2010

NIST Child Care Center Parent Handbook



Jolene Wayne
Director

This page left intentionally blank.

CONTENTS

WELCOME TO THE NIST CHILD CARE CENTER (NIST CCC)	5
HISTORY OF THE NIST CHILD CARE CENTER	7
GOVERNANCE	7
PHILOSOPHY	7
GOALS AND OBJECTIVES	8
REGISTRATION AND ENROLLMENT POLICIES	9
Waiting List	9
Class Vacancies – Program Opportunities	
Filling Class Vacancies – Priority Setting	
Class Vacancies Filled by Currently Enrolled Children	
Class Progression Policy	
NIST CCC Kindergarten Program	
NIST CCC Summer Camp	
NIST CCC Before/After Care	
Class Vacancies Filled by Children Registered on the Waiting List	
Conditions for Enrollment	
Conditions for Termination of Enrollment	13
TUITION AND FEES	15
Tuition	15
Tuition Assistance/Scholarship Funds	15
Returned Checks or Insufficient Funds	
Late Tuition Checks	15
Late Pick-Up (after 6 p.m. closing)	
Late Pick-Up (sick children)	
Withdrawal	
CENTER OPERATNG POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	17
Hours of Operation	17
Center Late Opening or Early Closing – Inclement Weather or Emergency Situation	
Security - Identification Badges	
Arrival	18
Authorized Release	18
Catered Hot Lunch Program	19
Outdoor Play	
Rest Periods for 2, 3, and 4 year olds	20
Departure	
Playground Use	
Photographs and Publicity	
Reporting Child Abuse	
Mandatory Withdrawal	
DISCIPLINE	
Principles for Guiding Behavior	
Remedial Actions	
Dismissal	
EMERGENCY PLANS	
Severe Weather – Evacuation Plan	
Adjustment in Opening Hours – Due to Inclement Weather – Snow/Ice	

Early Dismissal (Early Closing) – Due to Inclement Weather - Snow/Ice or Emergency	
Situation	27
Emergency Situation – "Shelter-in-Place" Plan	27
A TYPICAL DAY AT THE CENTER	28
MISCELLANEOUS CONCERNS	30
Birthdays	30
School Dress	30
Change of Clothes	31
Toilet Learning	31
Bottles and Pacifiers	31
Toys and Items Brought from Home	31
ILLNESS AND INJURY CONCERNS	34
Medical Requirements	34
Illness	34
Medication(s)	36
Allergies	37
Emergencies and Injuries	37
Poison Control	37
PARENT INTERESTS AND INVOLVEMENT	38
Transitioning to the CCC	38
Transitioning between CCC Classrooms	38
Transitioning to Elementary School or Other Settings	38
Classroom Orientation	38
Parent Communication with the Center	38
The Association's Board of Directors	39
Messages for Staff/Changes in Schedule	39
Absence from the Center	39
Parent Information Board	39
Visiting the Center	39
Parent-Teacher Conferences	40
Newsletters	40
Transportation/Field Trips	40
Summer Specials	40
Daily Activities	41
Fundraising/Donations	41
Parents as Center Volunteers	41
An Important Note to Parents	41
APPENDIX A: SCHEDULE OF FEES (as of August 2009)	44
APPENDIX B: RULES OF CONDUCT BETWEEN STAFF AND FAMILIES	45
Negotiating Differences between staff and parents	45
Children as our focus	45
APPENDIX C: OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF BY CCC FAMILIES	46
APPENDIX D: BI-WEEKLY TUITION RATES	47
APPENDIX E: SCHOLARSHIP PROJECTIONS FOR THE 2010-2011 SCHOOL YEAR	48

WELCOME TO THE NIST CHILD CARE CENTER (NIST CCC)

Welcome to the NIST Child Care Center! Whether you are a mom, dad or guardian, you want your child to have a loving, caring, wholesome environment in which to play and learn. We understand the need to provide quality child care at a reasonable price and are excited to offer this service to the NIST community. We offer options for full-time or part-time child care, kindergarten, before and after school care, Montgomery County Public School closings, and snow days where space available.

All NIST employees, NIST Associates and other federal government employees with children or grandchildren ages 18 months-5th grade (e.g. Summer Camp and Before/After School Care) are eligible to enroll their children in the Center. The Center admits children of any race, color, national or ethnic origin. We believe that finances should not prevent you from placing your little pea in our care and scholarship assistance is available to qualifying families.

Our mission is to encourage and promote the total social, physical, emotional, and academic development of each child in a safe, nurturing and supportive learning environment.

This page left intentionally blank.

HISTORY OF THE NIST CHILD CARE CENTER

The NIST Child Care Center (NIST CCC) is operated as a non-profit organization that provides a service for children of employees affiliated with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), Gaithersburg, Maryland. We expanded our service to children of Federal employees (non-NIST) in 2004.

The NIST CCC has been in operation, and licensed by the Maryland State Department of Education, Office of Child Care, since September 1983. The Center's full-day kindergarten program, established in 1995, is approved as a non-public school by the Maryland State Department of Education.

The CCC is an independent organization that operates on NIST's campus through a Memorandum of Agreement between NIST management and the NIST Child Care Association (CCA). NIST management is not involved in the Child Care Association nor the policies and practices of the CCC, its staff and the Association's Board of Directors.

GOVERNANCE

The policies of the NIST CCC are governed by the NIST Child Care Association (CCA) Board of Directors. The CCA is the business entity that manages the non-profit affairs of the Child Care Center.

The NIST CCA Board of Directors consists of a minimum of eight elected members, an accounts bookkeeper, a NIST Liaison, and the NIST CCC Director. Elected board members serve a 2-year term, with elections for four seats on the board being held every year.

PHILOSOPHY

The NIST CCC is designed to provide a developmentally appropriate program for children ages 18 months through kindergarten age. There is general agreement among experts that a good program for young children must be developmentally appropriate, but what exactly does this mean? According to the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC), this means that the quality of the program is defined in large measure by the extent to which the environment, activities, and interactions are rooted in the teacher's understanding of developmental stages and knowledge of each child. The decisions teachers make in planning the curriculum and in reacting spontaneously to what happens each day are based on knowledge of typical child development and what is known about each child's interests, abilities, needs and background.

At the NIST CCC, we know and understand that children learn best through play. Play is the serious work of the young child. We value and encourage play, knowing how central it is to a child's development. Young children learn best by "doing". Learning requires active thinking and experimenting to find out how things work and to learn firsthand about the world we live in. Our

carefully prepared environment provides the child with the opportunity to learn "hands-on", moving from the concrete to more abstract concept development. Our program is designed to stimulate and challenge the child to try new roles, experiment with ideas and materials and solve real problems. It is the process rather than the product, the means rather than the end, and the availability of opportunities in which each child can experience success which are emphasized.

The NIST Child Care Center provides a warm and supportive environment that provides opportunity and challenge, and individual success and growth.

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The NIST Child Care Center is committed to:

- following the developmentally appropriate guidelines established by the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) and the State of Maryland Office of Child Care Regulations;
- providing a healthy, safe and secure environment for children;
- encouraging each child in his/her developmental growth by providing an environment that encourages learning through action, inquiry and exploration;
- assisting each child to gain better control and understanding of his/her body through interaction with the environment, materials, and equipment;
- helping each child develop language skills which will enable expression of thoughts and feelings as well as an opportunity to increase knowledge;
- promoting a good self image in each child by providing an environment that encourages independence, decision making, and problem solving;
- Fostering an appreciation for the ethnic and cultural diversity of its families and its community; discrimination, in any form, will not be tolerated; and
- promoting a cooperative, informative, and respectful relationship with families.

REGISTRATION AND ENROLLMENT POLICIES

Obtain an application from the Center Director or Assistant Director. Complete the application. A processing fee must be included and submitted to the Center Director or Assistant Director.

In cases where an immediate vacancy in an age-appropriate classroom is not available, the child's name is added to the waiting list. A completed application and the processing fee must be submitted in order for a child's name to be placed on our wait list.

<u>Please note</u>: The child must be born before an application for enrollment can be submitted.

Waiting List

The Center Director maintains the waiting list. The date of registration and a priority category letter are entered on the waiting list with the child's name and birth date. The wait time for a child care space is largely dependent on the age of the child and priority category. Often, a family can be on the waitlist for a year or more.

The priority category letter is assigned as follows:

Priority Category "A"

- Children (dependents) of NIST employees

Priority Category "B"

- Children (dependents) of NIST Child Care Center staff
- Children (dependents) of NIST guest researchers or post-doctoral appointees

Priority Category "C"

- Children (dependents) of other Federal employees who work NIST
- Grandchildren of NIST employees

Priority Category "D"

- Children (dependents) of NIST-affiliated contractors (e.g., CARB, COMSTAR, etc.)

Priority Category "E"

- Children (dependents) of Federal employees (non-NIST) who do not work at NIST

The priority category can be updated if the status of the parent or grandparent changes at any time and if the Center is notified of the change.

The child's name will be removed from the waiting list if (1) the child becomes enrolled at the Center, (2) the parent /guardian of the child informs the Center Director that they no longer seek enrollment at the Center, (3) the child turns 11 years old, or (4) the parent or grandparent is no longer employed at NIST. A child's placement on the waiting list is not changed in the event that a vacancy is offered but not accepted.

Class Vacancies - Program Opportunities

The NIST Child Care Center accepts children from 18 months of age through completion of fifth grade age (i.e., Summer Camp and Before/After School Care) as spaces become available year round. The majority of class vacancies become available at the beginning of a new school year, which typically begins on a Monday in late August or early September.

Filling Class Vacancies – Priority Setting

Currently enrolled children have the first opportunity for filling class vacancies. Children registered on the wait list fill class vacancies not filled by currently enrolled children. The decision to move a child from classroom to classroom follows the CCC's progression policy outlined below.

Class Vacancies Filled by Currently Enrolled Children

For class vacancies that become available at the start or during the school year, the Center Director has the option of setting an end date for responses from parents on whether their currently enrolled child will be filling the available class vacancy. If an end date is specified, the preferential treatment towards currently enrolled children is not guaranteed once the end date has passed.

Class Progression Policy

It is the policy of the NIST CCC to progress children through the Center's classrooms using the child's date of birth as the sole criterion. The Center Director will issue a survey in the spring of each year to determine enrollment and class assignments for the upcoming school year with the most readily available information, which is subject to change depending on individual circumstances. Parents should understand that enrollment at the Center is fluid and that circumstances may prevent a child from getting into a desired classroom. However, the Center's curriculum and space is flexible enough to accommodate the age ranges that may be placed in any one classroom, depending on enrollment.

The majority of children will progress to the next age appropriate class as the "new school year" begins on the Monday in late August or early September, which coincides with the first week of school for Montgomery County Public Schools.

Transitions can happen at other times of the year when space becomes available. We strive to keep primary care groups together, but cannot guarantee that all children will stay together throughout the years due to space availability. We also cannot guarantee a space as soon as your child is chronologically ready to move into the twos or preschool programs. Fees are associated to the room your child is assigned, and not for the chronological age.

As your child ages, the child to teacher ratio increases in each classroom. There is always an oldest and a youngest in each classroom. Each classroom is able to meet the needs of the oldest

and the youngest members of the group because our program works with the children as individuals.

NIST CCC Kindergarten Program

The Center Director will hold an annual informational meeting to introduce parents to our kindergarten program. The meeting will be scheduled no later than March 31 each year. A three-week priority registration is offered to children currently enrolled in the NIST CCC. Registration for children not currently enrolled at the NIST CCC follows the announced priority registration period. If the number of children that are registered (including both currently enrolled and waiting list) at the end of the initial three-week registration period exceeds the number of available vacancies, then a lottery will be used to rank order these requests; otherwise, vacancies for the new school year will be filled on a first applied, first served basis.

The lottery proceeds as follows. The names of all age-eligible children from Category "A" are placed in a hat and withdrawn one at a time. As each name is drawn, it is recorded on a list in the order withdrawn. The lottery process is repeated for age-eligible children from Category "B", with the names being added below those children from Category "A". The process is repeated for children from category "C", followed by children from category "D", and then finally by children from category "E". Vacancies for the new school year are offered based on the lottery's rank ordering. Once the new school year begins, however, any new vacancies that become available are filled based on the priority category and registration date criteria described above.

NIST CCC Summer Camp

The CCC offers a Summer Camp program based on two-week sessions, and depending on the calendar year, a possible one-week session. The Summer Camp offers a variety of activities developed around weekly themes to include arts and crafts, games, photo journals, indoor/outdoor play, to an array of field trips or bi-weekly visits to our local financial institution to discuss the principles of a savings account. Registration and participation in the Summer Camp session(s) is on a first applied, first served basis. Specific information regarding Summer Camp program registration is published early in January of each year. Parents of children not currently enrolled, but have interest in the Summer Camp program, should contact the Center to be put on a list for the camp information/brochure. Tuition is based on each session. A separate "activity fee" for each session is required at the time of registration to pay for special program materials and entrance fees for trips.

NIST CCC Before/After Care

The CCC offers Before/After school care for children currently enrolled in our Kindergarten program, as well as students enrolled at Diamond Elementary School. Montgomery County Public Schools provide pick-up/drop-off bus service to and from the NIST CCC. Alternatively, families could make arrangements to drop-off children after school, until the CCC closes. Registration and participation for this program follows Center wait list procedures. Contact the CCC Director for participation in this program.

Class Vacancies Filled by Children Registered on the Waiting List

If a currently enrolled child does not fill a class vacancy, then the vacancy is offered to a registered, age-eligible child that is next on the waiting list. Except for the "Special Lottery Case" noted below, the vacancy is offered based on the following hierarchy.

A child from priority category "A"; if more than one age-eligible child from category "A" is on the waiting list, the child with the earliest registration date is offered the vacancy.

A child from priority category "B"; if more than one age-eligible child from Category "B" is on the waiting list, the child with the earliest registration date is offered the vacancy.

A child from priority category "C"; if more than one age-eligible child from Category "C" is on the waiting list, the child with the earliest registration date is offered the vacancy.

A child from priority category "D"; if more than one age-eligible child from Category "D" is on the waiting list, the child with the earliest registration date is offered the vacancy.

A child from priority category "E"; if more than one age-eligible child from Category "E" is on the waiting list, the child with the earliest registration date is offered the vacancy.

If the vacancy is a full-time position but the child having the highest priority ranking seeks a part-time position, the part-time vacancy is offered only if the child can be paired with a second child from the same or next lower priority category to create an equivalent full-time position. Otherwise, priority shifts to having the vacancy filled by a child that seeks a full-time position. In the event that there are no age-eligible children on the waiting list who seek the available full-time position, the Center Director may choose to break the full-time vacancy into two part-time positions while immediately filling only one of the newly formed part-time slots.

The Center Director has the option of setting an end date for responses from parents whose child is offered enrollment. If an end date is invoked, the vacancy shall be offered to the next age-eligible child on the waiting list once the end date is surpassed.

Conditions for Enrollment

Pay a one-time security deposit, which is held in escrow. The deposit is refunded within one month after the child is no longer enrolled at the Center as long as payment of all tuition and associated activities fees are current.

The parent or grandparent must become a member of the NIST Child Care Association and pay the annual fee. Membership affords opportunity to vote for BOD members, per fee paid. This membership must be maintained as long as the child is enrolled at the Center.

The parent or guardian must complete a packet of enrollment forms before the child begins class. The packet includes a financial agreement form, an emergency contact card, health forms to be completed by the child's physician, and many others. Several of these forms must be updated <u>annually</u>, in August or September, as the new school year begins. Current, updated forms are required for all children each year.

Conditions for Termination of Enrollment

Repeated problems with tuition payments (see Appendix D: Bi-Weekly Tuition Rates).

The child and/or the parents are unwilling or unable to adhere to the NIST Child Care Center philosophy and policies.

If the parent or grandparent is (1) no longer a NIST employee, Federal employee working at the NIST site, Child Care Center staff, NIST guest researcher or post-doctoral appointee, NIST-affiliated contractor, or Federal employee (non-NIST) <u>and</u> (2) the position presently occupied by their child could be filled by a child on the waiting list, then the child will only be allowed to remain at the Center until the end of the present school year (late August).

This page left intentionally blank.

TUITION AND FEES

For a complete list of fees per child and their frequency, see Appendix A: Schedule of Fees.

Tuition

Tuition is payable in advance, every two weeks on the Monday preceding the official NIST payday. A chart indicating acceptable payment days is located on the Parent News Bulletin Board outside the director's office. The first payment upon entering the Center will include a security deposit, which is held in escrow until the last week the child is enrolled in the Center. Tuition payments can also be made via direct deposit (see the Center Director or Assistant Director for information about this option). Parents are responsible for tuition while the child is officially enrolled in the Center whether or not the child has been in attendance. No tuition credit is given for absences resulting from vacation, illness, acts of nature, or any other circumstance outside of the CCC's control (including but not limited to inclement weather, power outage, earthquake, snow, hurricane, storm, flood, terrorist attack, tornado, fire, etc.). Non-payment of tuition is grounds for termination or suspension of services. See Appendix D for bi-weekly tuition rates.

Tuition for a summer camp session is due by 6:00 p.m. the first Wednesday of each session.

Tuition Assistance/Scholarship Funds

The NIST Child Care Association maintains a Scholarship Tuition Assistance Fund to assist the eligible parents of child(ren) attending the NIST Child Care Center. Appendix E provides the eligibility income scale. Actual awards may be higher or lower and are determined by the number of families eligible for assistance and the amount of funds available. Scholarships are awarded annually, and recipients must certify twice a year in August/September, and again in February/March, of their eligibility. See Appendix E for scholarship projections for the school year.

Returned Checks or Insufficient Funds

There is a fee when checks are returned from the bank without payment. If tuition or other payment check is returned more than twice, personal checks may no longer be accepted. The Board of Directors reserves the right to require members who have more than two returned checks sign up for "direct deposit" to pay their tuition. The same fee applies to "direct deposit", if notified by your financial institution that an account has insufficient funds.

Late Tuition Checks

To encourage payments to be made on time, the NIST CCA Board of Directors has imposed a late charge for tuition checks received after close of business Wednesday of the week they are

due. The late charge is imposed per workday (Monday - Friday) and continues until payment is made. If tuition has been paid by a check which is not honored by the bank, it will also be considered a late payment. If you are unable to make your tuition payment on time for any reason, please notify the Director as soon as possible. The Board of Directors reserves the right to require members who have excessive late tuition payments sign up for "direct deposit" to pay their tuition.

Late Pick-Up (after 6 p.m. closing)

Late pick-ups are disruptive for your child and our staff. In order to discourage late pick-ups, the following policy has been established. Any family who picks up their child(ren) after 6:00 p.m. will be assessed a late pick up fee. The late fee is imposed for the first 5 minutes or any portion thereof for each child. After 6:05 p.m., the fee will increase per minute until the child is picked up. If there are more than three late pick-ups in a calendar year, this may be grounds for termination of services. Please call if you find you will be later than normal so we can alert our closing staff and your child. Staff will not close the Center until all parents and children have left. Therefore, parents of children remaining in the Center after 6:00 p.m. will be charged the late fee and asked to sign the Late Book. The wall clock in the front foyer of Building 308 will be considered the official clock. Parents who are repeatedly late picking up their child will be asked to meet with the Director and/or NIST CCA Board of Directors.

Late Pick-Up (sick children)

A parent will be notified immediately when his/her child is ill. Ill children need to be picked up promptly (within one hour of notification) to avoid further exposure to healthy children and staff. Please help us maintain a healthy, safe environment for your child and others by complying with this policy. Repeated failures to comply may result in a fee and/or the child's dismissal from the program.

Withdrawal

Parents may withdraw their child from the program at any time. A WRITTEN 30-DAY NOTICE IS REQUIRED. Two pay period's tuition will be charged without proper notification. The security deposit, collected at the time of admission, can be used toward the final pay period's tuition, if proper 30-day written notification is provided. Withdrawal and subsequent reenrollment will entail submitting a new registration form and fee as well as being placed on the bottom of the waiting list within the parent's registration category.

CENTER OPERATNG POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Hours of Operation

The NIST Child Care Center is open 12 months a year, 5 days a week (Monday - Friday) from 6:45 a.m. - 6:00 p.m. The Center is closed on all Federal holidays and three (3) additional days per year for staff development and program preparation activities. Individual classrooms have varied opening and closing times, but the CCC Director will work with you to accommodate schedules within the Center's hours of operation, while maintaining required licensing ratios.

Center Late Opening or Early Closing – Inclement Weather or Emergency Situation

Changes in Center operational hours due to inclement weather or emergency situations will be announced on the Center's office phones at (301)975-2152 or (301)975-8898. NIST announces delayed opening changes or closure typically by 5:30 a.m. and can be heard by calling (301)975-8000.

When NIST employees are granted "Unscheduled Leave", the Center will open at 7:45 am. If you arrive before the staff, please keep your child with you and leave a message on the Center phone mail to let us know you're at NIST. Staff will call you when the Center opens. Children may not be left at the Center unless staff members have arrived.

When NIST employees are granted "Delayed Arrival", the Center will delay opening by the number of hours indicated in the announcement (e.g., NIST is operating under a "Delayed Arrival" status, and employees are instructed to delay their arrival by 2 hours, thus the Center would open at 8:45 a.m. (6:45 a.m. + 2 hours = 8:45 a.m.)

When NIST employees are granted "Unscheduled Leave <u>and</u> Delayed Arrival" (announced together), the Center will delay opening by the number of hours indicated in the announcement (e.g., NIST is operating under a "Delayed Arrival" status, and employees are instructed to delay their arrival by 2 hours, thus the Center would open at 8:45 a.m. (6:45 a.m. + 2 hours = 8:45 a.m.).

Should the NIST site close early for any reason, the Center will close 30 minutes after NIST closes. Every effort will be made to notify you of the early closing once we receive official notification from NIST. A late pick-up fee is imposed for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and a per minute charge thereafter will be imposed after 30 minutes of NIST's official closing time. If an early closing is anticipated, please be sure we know where to locate you. Early closings may occur for bad weather conditions, special events, emergencies, or any other reason NIST Administration identifies.

Should a situation arise whereby the health and safety of the children and staff are in jeopardy, the NIST Emergency Personnel and/or NIST CCA Board of Directors will close the Center. Parents will be notified and told where to pick up their children. Children must be picked up

within <u>30 minutes</u> of notification. A late pick-up fee will be charged for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and a per-minute charge thereafter will be imposed.

Security - Identification Badges

All doors to Buildings 308 and 419 are locked at all times. Access to the Child Care Center is via the card reader system only. All NIST employees will have their NIST identification badges activated to activate the child care center doors when their child is enrolled at the Center. They will be de-activated upon withdrawal. Non-NIST parents will be issued access cards for entry into NIST and the Child Care Center only. The access cards must be returned to the NIST CCC upon withdrawal. Access card term dates should be monitored by the card carrier so that access does not expire. Please contact the Director for card renewal instructions, and allow three weeks to complete the renewal process.

Arrival

Please escort your child into the Center. Help to see that his/her belongings are placed in the designated area, and that your child's hands are washed. Avoid rushing. It is important for your child to start the day happy and relaxed. Please do not leave until a staff person has received your child. Be sure to say good-bye when you leave. Never sneak away!

Please be sure that you or an authorized adult sign your child in and out on the attendance sheet which is posted outside each classroom door. Please include the time and your initials upon arrival and departure. The sign in/sign out procedure is repeated each time the child arrives and departs the Center even if only for a short period of time. This is a licensing requirement which is monitored by the Maryland State Department of Education, Office of Child Care.

These forms are also used to account for all children in the event of an emergency.

Authorized Release

You are required to advise the Center regularly where you, or a responsible adult (emergency contact person), can be reached while your child is at the Center. This is important in case your child becomes ill or is injured. Children can only be released to parents/guardians having legal custody or to emergency contact persons designated in advance by parents or legal guardians. If someone other than the parents/guardians or emergency contact person is picking up your child, a release form authorizing a specific person to pick up the child must be filled out and signed by the parent and/or legal guardian. At the time of pick up, both the designated person and a staff member must sign the form. In cases of child custody disputes, a copy of the custody papers must be kept in the child's folder in order to safeguard the rights of the child. Children will only be released to a parent bearing legal custody unless arranged otherwise in advance. Unless custody papers are submitted, it is assumed that both parents have equal rights to pick up a child. Anyone picking up children from the Center may be asked to show photo identification. Please be sure you inform any designated contact persons of this policy. If you know you will not be the person picking up your child, please let the staff and your child know this in advance.

Catered Hot Lunch Program

A catered hot lunch program is provided to all children at the Center. Every meal includes a hot entrée, fresh fruit, carefully prepared fresh or frozen vegetables, and milk. Almost everything is made from scratch, including soups, sauces and breads. Cost for the lunch program is included in tuition and is not optional.

Childhood is the best time to develop good food habits because early experiences with food have a strong impact on a child's future eating habits and health. Teaching children to eat wisely and moderately is an investment in the future. The foods children eat influence their growth, development, capacity to learn, and overall behavior. Understanding this, our Center provides a variety of nutritious and interesting breakfast and afternoon snacks. The monthly menu is sent home to all families and is posted at the Center. Our menus meet the standards and guidelines of the U.S. Department of Agriculture Child and Adult Care Food Program.

Although the lunch program is not optional, if you prefer your child to bring lunch from home, please do so every day that your child is in attendance at the Center. We will provide milk to drink. Parents are encouraged to support the Center's efforts in developing healthy food habits. When preparing your child's lunch, please choose lean meat, fish, and poultry. Limit foods that are high in saturated fats. Choose foods that are good sources of fiber and starch, such as whole grain breads and cereals, fruits and vegetables, and dried beans and peas. Avoid foods that are high in sugar and sodium. Your help in providing lunches that do not contain candy, soda or junk food is greatly appreciated.

All food allergies must be reported to the staff and documentation of the allergy must be recorded in the child's health folder by the child's physician. In addition, if your child has a severe allergy, we also ask you to provide a recent photograph of your child upon enrollment. The lunch caterer provides a list of food ingredients to avoid possible allergy complications. See the Director or Assistant Director for a copy.

Outdoor Play

As part of their active day, children are afforded as many opportunities as possible for outdoor play. While each classroom strives to accomplish both morning and afternoon outdoor play times, the weather sometimes prohibits such activity, or delays the scheduling of such activity throughout the day. Outside time is limited during inclement or excessively hot or cold weather. Children will go outside when temperatures are between 20° and 90° F. Children will remain inside on "Code Red" days. Please ensure that your child is dressed appropriately for the weather. In addition, we ask that you apply the first coat of sunscreen at home or upon arrival at the Center. With your permission, CCC staff will reapply sunscreen, as needed, to your child's exposed skin. You supply the sunscreen in its original container, labeled with your child's first and last name. We also ask that you supply bug repellant spray in its original container, labeled with your child's first and last name. With your permission, CCC staff will apply bug repellant spray, as needed, to your child's clothing.

Rest Periods for 2, 3, and 4 year olds*

Center children have a long, active day. Naptime is a designated time between 1:00 p.m. - 3:00 p.m. Children are encouraged to sleep during naptime. Soft music and back rubs help the children relax. Scheduling a specific time to rest is a Maryland State Department of Education, Office of Child Care regulation. Children who do not sleep are permitted to get up earlier than 3:00 p.m. and play quietly on their cot or mat after an hour or so while others are sleeping.

Each child is provided with his/her own cot or rest mat. Sheets are also provided by the Center for the cots and are washed weekly, or more often as needed. Sheets for the mats are provided by the parent. Parents are also requested to provide a small blanket and, if necessary, a crib-size pillow for their child to use during nap time. Full size bed pillows should not be brought to the center. These items are sent home for cleaning at least weekly, and more often if needed.

Departure

When parents arrive for pick up, children are expected to put away their projects and toys and prepare to leave. Remember your child may be excited about a project completed that day and want to share with you at this time. It is important that you allow enough time at the end of the day to pick up your child and collect their belongings so as to exit the Center by closing time. Teachers may not always be available to help the children gather their belongings and put on their coats. We ask for your help in tending to your child's needs at this time. Please be sure that you or the authorized adult signs your child out on the attendance sheet at pick up time. A person authorized by the parents or guardians to pick up their child may have to show photo identification if he/she is unfamiliar to the staff. Please be sure the staff knows your child is leaving. Children will not be released to minors.

Playground Use

Parents are welcome to stay in the evening and allow their children to play outside. We ask, however, that you help your child pick up and put away any toys that he/she has been playing with before leaving. To insure your child's safety, we request that only kindergartners or older children use the front climber with the red slide attached. This piece of equipment is designed for children ages five and over and is unsafe for younger children. In addition, the small swing set with slide is designed for children younger than age three. We request that parents closely supervise children on the playground at all times for their safety. The Center is closed at 6:00pm, and due to insurance restrictions, parents should not reenter the building for any reason when staff members are no longer present.

Photographs and Publicity

Photographs of the children participating in our programs may be taken periodically and may appear in newspapers, magazines, brochures or other publicity materials. Permission for the use

^{*}Toddler rest periods vary depending on each child's needs

of these photographs, to be used without compensation and with child anonymity, is requested when your child attends the NIST Child Care Center.

Reporting Child Abuse

The employees of the NIST Child Care Center are required by law to report all suspected incidents of child abuse or neglect to the proper authorities. It is important to tell the teachers or Director the nature and circumstances behind any unusual bruises or injuries that your child has received. This will aid in evaluating and not over reacting to a situation.

Mandatory Withdrawal

Families may be asked to withdraw from the CCC for any of the following reasons:

- 1) Delinquency of tuition or fees;
- 2) Non-compliance with the CCC policies;
- 3) Inability of the child or parent to adjust to the CCC's program; or
- 4) Inappropriate or unacceptable behavior toward Center staff or other enrolled children.

With the exception of withdrawal due to delinquency of tuition or fees, parents will be notified 2 weeks in advance of the termination date for their child. Prior to termination, a 1-4 week probationary period will be established by the CCC Director. Continuing attempts will be made to work together with the parents to find a solution and/or resolve the problem. Community resources will be utilized to the fullest extent possible. If the problem or situation is unresolved following this probationary period, the child will be withdrawn. The Center Director, as representative of the NIST CCC, is the final authority on termination of a child.

This page left intentionally blank.

DISCIPLINE

We find that the children at NIST CCC have fewer behavioral problems because self-respect is encouraged as well as personal responsibility for his/her actions. It is important for each child to learn self-control and to respect the rights of others while learning in a safe and caring environment.

The staff at NIST CCC will guide the children in a firm but loving manner toward self-control. This will be accomplished with love, respect, and consistency.

Discipline is **NOT** punishment, but a means to encourage self-control and responsibility. It is nurturing and educational. Good discipline is based on caring, honesty, respect, and trust. Children will be treated with respect and in turn are able to be respectful to others. We expect the children and adults to observe four rules of respect in regards to their life at the center.

These are:

- 1. Respect for self
- 2. Respect for others
- 3. Respect for materials, tools, and equipment
- 4. Respect for the environment

This means that the children will respect one another and respect the school's property and that of other children. It also means that children do not use language that is hurtful or inappropriate or touch another child unless the child wants to be touched. If there is a conflict between children that they are unable to resolve, children will be brought together to talk out the problem and seek conflict resolution.

The staff exemplifies appropriate behavior with the children and with each other. In this way, a positive model is provided for the children. Staff model respect, kindness, and encouragement. Children are encouraged to be kind and respectful in turn, but are also acknowledged for who they are. Appropriate channeling of anger is fostered.

Encouragement of self-control and responsibility for offending and affected children is a collaborative partnership. It is imperative for parents and/or guardians to maintain open and immediate communications with the staff if they are alerted by their child of any ensuing behavioral problems and/or if a change in a child's mental state is observed. Rules of respect convey to staff, parents, and/or guardians while maintaining the privacy of the offending and affected children.

Principles for Guiding Behavior

Principles for guiding behavior are:

1. Protect the rights of the child and others by setting clear-cut, consistent guidelines and rules for appropriate behavior.

- **2.** Anticipate problems before they occur.
- 3. Speak to the child/children regarding the action in a calm yet firm voice. Voices may be raised slightly to alert the children that you are disapproving of their behavior or to alert the children of impending danger.
- **4.** Inform the children that there are consequences for not following the rules.
- 5. Tell the children what to do rather than what not to do.
- **6.** Provide related and immediate consequences for unacceptable behavior when it occurs by all children in our care.
- 7. Allow children to try and resolve conflicts that are not violent.
- **8.** Redirect the children to another activity if having difficulty focusing on the activity at hand.
- **9.** Offer children alternatives to aggressive behavior, such as walking away, ignoring, working in a quiet designated area in the classroom, or talking through a problem.
- **10.** Children will not be deprived of food at any time or be restricted from any activities of the program.

The safety of the staff and other children must be ensured. Inappropriate behaviors which will not be allowed in the classroom environment include:

- 1. Hurting someone intentionally
- 2. Foul language
- 3. Rude gestures
- 4. Habitual disruptive behaviors

When the staff observe that a child requires an increased amount of staff guidance and time, this will be documented and, if necessary, the parents will be contacted. The staff is committed to trying positive techniques, observing the behavior and recording it, and meeting with the offending child's parents and/or guardian to work collaboratively toward encouraging positive behavior. Our kindergarten classroom uses red, yellow and green stop lights as a part of a behavioral management technique. Each child starts the day on green; yellow is a warning, and red warrants a discussion at the end of the day with a parent.

Remedial Actions

First offense of a major misbehavior as deemed by the teacher, the staff will follow the principles for guiding behavior as given above. However, broken skin (i.e., biting) is always documented on our standard incident form.

Second offense- the child's teacher will provide a written record of the inappropriate behavior and the parent/guardian will be asked to initial and date the written record as an acknowledgement. The parent/guardian and the teacher(s) should identify a specific mechanism for collaboratively addressing the inappropriate behavior.

Third offense - the parents will be called for a formal meeting with the teacher(s) and/or director to negotiate a co-operative plan of action to resolve the misbehavior.

Fourth offense- the child will be removed from the class for the rest of that specific day. The parents will be called to pick up the child. In some instances, participation in counseling (delivered by school or community mental health providers) will be recommended.

Dismissal

In general, we do not expel children from the center as this does not allow us to adequately deal with the behavior we are trying to change. However, if after all the above steps have been followed by the child, parents, staff and center director, and a child's behavior cannot be resolved, the child may be dismissed from the program.

Any parent or guardian who is disruptive to the program, does not comply with the policies of NIST Child Care Center, or whose behavior is intimidating to the children, parents of other children or the staff of the Center, will be asked to leave the program.

See Mandatory Withdrawal.

Severe Weather - Evacuation Plan

If the NIST Fire Protection Group, Police Department or Emergency Coordinator recommends the evacuation of the Child Care Center based upon severe weather conditions (such as strong thunder storms, high winds, or local tornado activity) the following plans are in place:

- 1) NIST will send a bus and driver to the Center and all children and staff will be transported to Building 215.
- 2) Children and staff will be moved through buildings to the basement of Building 218, Room B031.
- 3) Parents will be notified of our evacuation as soon as possible via a phone call from a NIST CCC staff person.

Depending on the severity of the storm, parents may be asked to come immediately to pick up his/her child. If called to pick up his/her child, the parent must come within 30 minutes of notification. A late pick-up fee will be imposed for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and per minute charge thereafter.

If weather conditions are too dangerous for parents to pick up his/her child, children will remain with staff in Building 218, Room B031 until conditions improve. Parents may be called to pick up his/her child from Building 218 once the threat of severe weather diminishes or the children may be transported back to the Center to resume their normal day. If called to pick up his/her child, the parent must come within 30 minutes of notification. A late pick-up fee will be imposed for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and a per minute charge thereafter.

If the Child Care Center is evacuated at 3:30 p.m. or later, the Center will be closing and the children will not be transported back to Buildings 308 or 419. Parents will be asked to pick up their children immediately or as soon as weather conditions improve. If called to pick up his/her child, the parent must come within 30 minutes of notification or late fees as stated above will apply. If the Center is evacuated earlier than 3:30 p.m., a decision will be made whether to move the children back to the Center or to dismiss from Building 218, Room B031, based on weather conditions. Parents will be advised of the decision as promptly as possible.

<u>Please note</u>: If severe weather conditions exist, every effort will be made by the NIST Fire Protection Group and Emergency Services to transport the children to Building 218, Room B031. When a severe weather condition exists but time does not permit a safe evacuation, all children, including those in Building 419, may be moved to the basement of Building 308 until weather conditions improve.

Adjustment in Opening Hours – Due to Inclement Weather – Snow/Ice

<u>Delayed Arrival</u> – When NIST is operating under a "Delayed Arrival" Status, the Center will delay opening by the hours indicated in the announcement, e.g., NIST is operating under a "Delayed Arrival" Status and employees are instructed to delay their arrival by 2 hours, thus the Center would open at 8:45 a.m. (6:45 a.m. + 2 hrs. = 8:45 a.m.).

<u>Unscheduled Leave</u> – When NIST is operating under an "Unscheduled Leave" Status, the Center will open at 7:45 a.m.

<u>Delayed Arrival-Unscheduled Leave</u> (announced together) – When NIST is operating under a "Delayed Arrival-Unscheduled Leave" Status, the Center will delay opening by the hours indicated in the announcement, i.e., NIST employees are instructed to delay their arrival by 2 hours, thus the Center would open at 8:45 a.m. (6:45 a.m. + 2 hrs. = 8:45 a.m.).

<u>Please note:</u> "Delayed Arrival" and "Unscheduled Leave" occur when weather and road conditions are potentially dangerous. These adjustments in our operating hours give our staff more travel time, which is crucial during wintry weather conditions.

Early Dismissal (Early Closing) – Due to Inclement Weather - Snow/Ice or Emergency Situation

If the NIST site closes early due to inclement weather or for an emergency situation, the Center will close 30 minutes after NIST closes. Every effort will be made to notify parents of the early closing once we receive official notification from NIST. If NIST closes early, NIST employees will be notified in their own offices/labs by the NIST administration. Please stay alert when weather deteriorates or an emergency situation develops so you can pick up your child in a timely manner. A late pick up fee will be imposed for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and a per minute charge beginning 30 minutes from NIST's official closing time.

Emergency Situation – "Shelter-in-Place" Plan

If NIST emergency personnel direct us to "Shelter-in-Place" based on an emergency situation, the following plans are in place:

- 1. All children and staff will move to the basement of Building 308.
- 2. Parents are asked not to come to the Center to pick up their children until the emergency situation is over.
- 3. Once the threat has passed, if necessary parents will be called to pick up his/her child within 30 minutes of notification. A late pick-up fee for the first 5 minutes or portion thereof and per minute charge thereafter will be imposed.

<u>Important Note:</u> Please call the NIST Status Line at (301) 975-8000 for information regarding changes in NIST's operating hours. For specific information regarding changes in the Center's operating hours, call the CCC at (301)975-2152 or (301)975-8898.

A TYPICAL DAY AT THE CENTER

Parents often ask "What does my child do all day?" This is a wonderful question! The activities and schedules vary from class to class, depending on the age of the children, but some things occur every day for every child. Here is what to expect:

The Center opens at 6:45 a.m. and classrooms open as staff and children arrive. All rooms are open by 8:30 a.m. The morning arrival time is structured to allow the children to have free choice activities so that staff is able to spend a few moments greeting each parent and child. The morning routines vary from room to room, but every room serves breakfast, offers a group gathering time, free choice activities, small group teacher-directed activities, and a time to play outside. Lunch is served between 11:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. depending on the classroom. Following lunch, every group has a transition to rest time, then a rest period. The length of the rest period is determined by the ages of the children and the composition of the group. The general rule is the younger the child the longer the rest period. Children who do not sleep are permitted to participate in quiet activities on their cot or mat after an hour or so. Following rest time, afternoon activities include snack time, free choice activities, outside time, story time and other whole group gathering activities. Our curriculum is based on the needs and interests of the children. Weekly activities are planned across the curriculum in the areas of language arts, science, creative arts, math, music and movement. The daily schedule and weekly lesson plans are posted for each classroom for your review. Feel free to ask the staff and/or Director for information about the activities that are offered daily for your child.

This page left intentionally blank.

MISCELLANEOUS CONCERNS

Birthdays

Birthdays are a very special occasion in the life of a child and a great sharing opportunity as well. If you would like your child to share a birthday treat with the class on his or her special day, we would be delighted! We encourage nutritious treats such as fruit, muffins, banana bread, etc., in lieu of traditional high sugared cake. Food served to children must be store bought, not prepared at home. This is a licensing and health department regulation. Your involvement for birthday celebrations and other special occasions is more important than the type of food served. We will be happy to distribute birthday party invitations only if every child in the class receives one. Birthday celebrations should be fun for everyone, and you are welcome to plan events at the Center for all children to enjoy.

School Dress

We work and play hard at the NIST CCC. Please help your child "dress for success" by selecting comfortable, washable clothing for your child to wear in school. Elastic waistbands are best for pants. All children want to feel comfortable and free to climb and run, to paint and build, to exercise their muscles and imaginations. Dress your child so he/she can become self-sufficient in dressing. Please avoid one piece outfits, such as overalls or "onesies" for younger children.

Climbing, running, biking, and digging are just a few of the activities that your children will participate in when playing outside. Sneakers are recommended for outside play. It is important that your child's shoes protect the top of the foot, have good gripping action, and have laces or Velcro that securely hold the shoe on the child's foot.

The children will be going outside every day, weather permitting. Please send outdoor wear appropriate to the season, including hats and mittens, snow pants and boots. Label all clothing items. Please purchase a pair of snow boots that is large enough for the child to put on him/herself. Children are required to wear tight fitting water/pool shoes that will stay on the child's feet as they run through sprinklers on summer Sprinkler Days. Open toe shoes/sandals, flip flops, clogs or resin footwear are not acceptable for the safety of your children.

A child who rides a two-wheel bike <u>must</u> wear a helmet. He/she will not be permitted to ride unless it is worn. Bike accidents have been known to cause serious head and neck injury. Your child's safety is always our primary concern.

We do not want to curtail the children's involvement with the outdoors and their opportunities to develop their physical skills. We do, however, want to take all the necessary precautions to ensure their safety. Your support in complying with these requests is greatly appreciated.

Change of Clothes

Each child must have a complete change of clothing at school, including socks and underwear. For children under 3 years of age, we request two sets of clothing. Please be sure the clothes are appropriate for the season. Extra clothes should be checked monthly to be sure they still fit. Children should also bring in a small blanket, (crib size is best) and a small pillow, if they choose. All items should be clearly labeled with your child's name.

Toilet Learning

We recognize that the toilet learning process may be challenging for both children and parents. When to begin helping a child learn to use the toilet should be a decision made largely by parents and based on signs of readiness from the child. Beginning too early often leads to frustration and power struggles between the child and adult. The importance of individualizing the age at which children learn to use the toilet cannot be over emphasized. If you are helping your child at home with this developmental task, please let us know so we can assist your child at school. This is definitely a time when we need to be partners.

Parents are asked to provide disposable diapers and wipes for your child. A child who is being taught to use the toilet should wear "training" underpants. He/she will be encouraged to use the toilet periodically. We discourage the use of "pull-ups" or rubber pants. Clothing from accidents will be sent home for laundering. We ask that you provide a minimum of 2 sets of clean clothing that will remain at the Center for use if the need arises.

At school, toilet training is done in a positive and encouraging way. Your child will be offered several opportunities to use the bathroom. If he/she needs help dressing or undressing, a staff member will be happy to assist. Children will be encouraged to be self-sufficient as much as possible. Children are neither punished for accidents nor physically forced to use the toilet, but are encouraged to do so. We request that a similar program be used at home. Please talk with the staff if you need any ideas or suggestions. We find a consistent approach is the best way to get children on the right track in using the bathroom.

Bottles and Pacifiers

The Health Department and the Center discourage the use of a bottle and/or a pacifier while the child is at the Center. There is a tendency to share these items with other children, thus promoting the spread of germs. Children in our toddler or two year old program may be allowed to use these items on a limited basis. Please talk with the staff if your child still uses a bottle or pacifier.

Toys and Items Brought from Home

Toys and items brought from home have a tendency to cause problems. We recognize, however, that children spend a great deal of time here, and that they sometimes enjoy sharing items brought from home. If your child wants to bring in a toy from home, please adhere to the following procedures. Do not send in any items of great sentimental or monetary value. We cannot be

responsible for breakage or loss. Although we do our best to supervise the use of toys, sometimes things do happen! Some rooms have specific share days; please check with your child's teachers to be sure of their room policy. Children are encouraged to bring in a variety of items other than toys, particularly books, tapes, CD's, and photographs. Age appropriate, G-Rated videos, no longer than 30 minutes, may be shared on inclement weather days when outside play is not possible. The use of short videos is at the discretion of the teacher. Toy guns or weapons are never allowed. Please be sure to label all toys.

The page left intentionally blank.

ILLNESS AND INJURY CONCERNS

Medical Requirements

The Maryland State Department of Education, Office of Child Care requires that all children in group care have an up-to-date physical examination prior to admission. Although children do not have a need for annual immunizations after a period of time, all children should have a yearly physical. Please be sure your child's immunization records are kept current. Your child's health inventory record will need to be updated annually. A new form is distributed to all families before the beginning of every school year (late August).

Illness

Keeping our Center a healthy place requires your cooperation, understanding, and compliance with our health standards. Children should be excluded when they are not able to fully participate with the program, or in the case of our child care settings, when their level of care needed during an illness is not able to be met without jeopardizing the health and safety of the other children, or when there is a risk of spread to other children that cannot be avoided with appropriate environmental or individual management. We are not equipped to care for children who are not well, nor do we have extra staff to stay for long periods of time with children who are not well enough to participate in regular school activities. In other words, if the child is healthy enough to come to school, they will be expected to participate fully. For this reason, the NIST Child Care Center must take a firm position in regard to the health of each child (as well as staff members) who attend the NIST Child Care Center. With this in mind, please read and follow our policy on health and help us keep your child, and the other children, healthy.

- 1) Each child is required by Maryland regulations to have an up-to-date physical examination prior to entrance. Immunizations must be up-to-date. A lead screening is also required for all children and/or a lead blood test for children who have lived, or currently live in certain Maryland zip codes. Please consult your child's physician.
- 2) CHILDREN WHO ARE SICK MUST NOT TO BE BROUGHT TO THE CENTER. Children who exhibit symptoms of illness upon arrival, will not be allowed to attend the Center that day. The symptoms of illness for which State regulations require that a child be excluded from the Center include the following:
 - a) Fever (100.4 orally or the underarm equivalent) (Note: A child may have a fever for many reasons. Any child with a fever and behavior changes, or other symptoms of an acute illness, will be excluded and parents notified.)
 - b) Vomiting (two or more episodes in a 24-hour period)
 - c) Respiratory distress (asthma that may severely restrict the child's activities, severe cold, chest congestion)
 - d) Suspected ringworm, pink eye, conjunctivitis
 - e) Head lice, scabies
 - f) Rashes, skin infections

- g) Diarrhea (Note: A child with loose or watery stools of increased frequency that is not associated by change in diet will be excluded if stool is not able to be contained in a diaper or in the toilet, the stool contains blood, if the child is ill, or has any signs of acute illness accompanied by fever or shows signs of dehydration.)
- h) Severe pain or discomfort
- i) Swollen joints
- j) Sore throat or deep coughs
- k) Other obvious complaints or not feeling well such as extreme tiredness or lethargy, headaches, stiff neck, etc.
- 3) Listed below is a chart of communicable diseases and the requirements for exclusion from the Center. The exclusions are REQUIRED by the Montgomery County Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. The Center allows NO EXCEPTIONS to this policy. If your child is diagnosed as having any of the following diseases, he or she cannot return to the Center for the amount of time and/or requirement listed after each disease.

DISEASE	REQUIRED EXCLUSION
Animal bites	Until medically cleared for return
Chicken pox	Until lesions are completely dried and crusted
Conjunctivitis (infectious pink eye)	Until medically cleared or 24 hours of
	antibiotic therapy
Diphtheria	Until cleared by Health Department
Haemophilus Influenzae (HIB)	24 hours of antibiotic therapy
Hepatitis A	At least 1 week and physician advises return
Impetigo Contagiosa	24 hours of antibiotic therapy
Lice, Body (Pediculosis corporis)	24 hours after treatment
Lice, Head (Pediculosis capitis)	After first treatment completed
Measles (Rubeola)	4 days after onset of symptoms
Meningitis (Viral or Aseptic)	Until physician advises return
Meningitis (Bacterial)	Until physician advises return
Meningococcal Disease	Until physician advised return
Mumps	5 days after onset of symptoms
Pertussis (Whooping Cough)	5 days of antibiotic therapy
Poliomyelitis	Until cleared by Health Department
Ringworm of scalp	Until treatment has been initiated
Rubella (German measles)	7 days after onset of symptoms
Salmonellosis	5 days after onset of symptoms
Scabies	Until treatment has been initiated
Shingles	Until lesions are completely dry and crusted
Streptococcal Disease (Strep Throat/Scarlet	24 hours of antibiotic therapy
Fever)	
Tuberculosis	Until treatment has been initiated and cleared
	by Health Department
Typhoid Fever	Until cleared by Health Department

- 4) If your child has been exposed to or diagnosed as having a communicable disease, you must notify the Center immediately. A doctor's medical release must be presented before a child with a communicable disease can return to the Center. It is also important that you let us know if your child has head lice so that we may ensure proper cleaning of the affected classroom and its contents.
- 5) A child sent home with a fever MUST NOT RETURN UNTIL THE TEMPERATURE HAS BEEN NORMAL (under 100.4 orally or the underarm equivalent) FOR 24 HOURS, and/or the other symptoms have subsided.
- 6) If your child has any type of allergy, it must be reported to the staff and recorded in the child's records.

You will be notified and expected to pick up your child within the hour if, during the day, he/she begins to show any of the above symptoms. Meanwhile, the child may be isolated from the other children to help prevent further spread of any illness as well as to make the child more comfortable.

Repeated noncompliance with the Center's health guidelines and procedures may precipitate the child's termination at the Center.

Medication(s)

WRITTEN PERMISSION is required by a parent in order to administer medication to a child. Only prescription medication can be given, and at least one dose of the medication must be given to the child at home in case of an allergic reaction. No over-the-counter medicines will be administered unless a note is provided by the doctor with specific instructions. All medicine to be administered at the Center must be in the original container bearing the child's name, the medication, the dosage, the time and duration it is to be given. Each medicine container must include the written instructions for dispensing. Parents should provide a medicine spoon for their child, if needed. The only exception to this policy is sunscreen, diaper ointment, and insect repellant. These may be administered by the staff with a parent signature on the Maryland State Department of Education, Office of Child Care, Medication Authorization Form. Please arrange for medication to be given at lunchtime, if at all possible. No Tylenol, aspirin, eye or ear drops, or ointments can be given. All unused medicine will be returned to the parent/legal guardian after 10 days.

Children who must take medicine on an ongoing basis for longer than 10 days or who need to have medicine available in case of an emergency, must have a doctor's written permission for the Center to administer the medicine. Please make sure your child's teacher is aware that medication must be administered. A form must be filled out authorizing a staff member to give the medicine. All medicine must be given to a staff person, who in turn will put it in a lock box in the classroom or refrigerator.

Please consider asking your child's physician to prescribe medications which can be administered by you at home. The Center is a busy place, and while our staff is very conscientious, we do forget things from time to time. Please try to arrange to have all medication given at home to prevent a missed dose of medication when possible.

Allergies

It is hard to believe that foods most of us eat and enjoy every day can be harmful or deadly to others, but it is true. Eggs, cow's milk, peanuts, soy, wheat, tree nuts, fish, and shellfish are the most common foods causing allergic reactions, but almost any food has the potential to trigger an allergy. When a child has a life threatening or serious allergy to peanuts, peanuts will be prohibited from use in that child's classroom or any area that the child uses during the day. All parents in the affected classroom(s) will be notified in writing of the banning of peanuts. Families in the affected classroom(s) are expected to comply with this request. For all other food or substances, the Center will work with the child's family to provide the safest possible environment, and customize a special health care plan in cooperation with the child's physician.

Emergencies and Injuries

Minor injuries will be treated with first aid. Any first aid treatment rendered will be reported to the parents. Our staff is certified in basic first aid and infant/child cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR).

In the case of a severe injury or medical emergency:

- 1) The NIST Fire Protection Group will be called at extension 2222.
- 2) We will attempt to notify the parents or emergency contact person(s) immediately.
- 3) The child will be transported to the nearest hospital (Shady Grove Adventist Hospital, Shady Grove Road & Route 28).
- 4) A Center staff member will accompany him/her to the emergency room. Your previously signed, "Emergency Medical Release" Form, will be brought to the hospital to ensure immediate care for your child prior to your arrival.

Poison Control

In the unlikely event of a child swallowing or coming in contact with a poisonous substance, the Director and/or staff will call the Poison Control Center, describe the incident and the poison consumed. Recommendation for treatment will be followed. Parents will be notified immediately.

PARENT INTERESTS AND INVOLVEMENT

Transitioning to the CCC

New families whose child will be entering the Center are provided an opportunity to discuss the Center's policies/procedures and any concerns they may have with the Director or Assistant Director. The parents and child are encouraged to visit the Center, prior to the child's first day of class, to meet the staff and become familiar with the environment. We strongly recommend that your child spend time in the classroom with the parent to ease the transition from home to school. Class visits can be arranged through the Director.

Transitioning between CCC Classrooms

Besides the initial transition that you and your child make when you enroll in our Center, the next adjustment will be moving your child from one class to the next (i.e., progression). In some cases this may involve moving with the class, or changing teachers and peers. We strongly recommend that you talk with your child about the transition, and possibly visit the new classroom prior to participation.

Transitioning to Elementary School or Other Settings

The CCC Staff are available to make any moves outside the CCC as smooth and stress-free as possible. Our staff is available, at your request, to talk with your child's new elementary school teacher or other caregiver. Past medical and education information will be supplied to county school systems when your child leaves our kindergarten program and transitions to first grade with your written approval.

Classroom Orientation

At the beginning of each school year, each classroom hosts orientation "Back to School" night between teachers and parents. We strongly recommend that you attend to discuss curricula, operations, expectations, communications, etc., of your child's new classroom. This event is best suited for adults only.

Parent Communication with the Center

It is important that parents and staff work cooperatively and communicate freely with one another. Many things can influence a child's emotional state when he/she arrives at school. It is often helpful for us to understand the reason for your child's excitement or upset so that we can better respond to his/her needs. Written notes work well in communicating this type of information. You are also welcome to call during nap time (1:00 - 3:00 p.m.) to inquire about

your child's progress or to discuss a concern with your child's teacher. If the staff isn't available when you call, your message will be given to the teacher who will return your call as soon as possible.

Electronic mail (e-mail) distribution lists are established at the beginning of each school year, and maintained throughout the year with changes to parent's contact information. The Center maintains an e-mail list (based on classroom lists) whereby the Director sends communications on an as-needed basis.

The Association's Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is an elected body of volunteers, serving 2-year terms. The membership consists of a President, Vice President, Treasurer, Secretary, Personnel Chair, Fundraising Chair, and two at-large members. The current Board membership is listed outside the Director's office. Should there be a concern by an Association member believed to warrant the Board's attention, please raise it to any Board member. Board meetings are held once a month and all CCA members are welcome to attend. The date and location of each Board meeting will be included in the Center's monthly newsletter.

Messages for Staff/Changes in Schedule

A <u>notebook</u> is located on each foyer table for the purpose of leaving a note should there be a change in your schedule or telephone contact number for the day. Please inform the staff of any changes as it is imperative that we have an accurate emergency phone number if you plan to be at an alternate location for the day.

Absence from the Center

Please call the Center office if your child is going to be absent from the Center. A phone call helps us in food preparation, staffing and planning the activities for the day. Call (301)975-2152 for Building 308 or (301)975-5315 for Building 419, and leave a message anytime.

Parent Information Board

Items of interest to parents are posted on the parent information board, located outside the Director's office in Building 308. Please take the time to check the board periodically.

Visiting the Center

We encourage you to visit the Center and participate in activities with your child as often as your schedule permits. We encourage you to have lunch with your child as often as possible. Please check with your child's teacher for the best time to come by. Children <u>love</u> sharing their family with their friends. You are always welcome here!

Parent-Teacher Conferences

At the NIST CCC, ongoing communication between families and staff contribute to the success of our program. Official parent-teacher conferences are offered twice a year. Our preschool staff schedule phone conferences in the fall to discuss the child's progress and meet face-to-face with parents in the spring. The kindergarten staff offers face-to-face conferences in the fall and spring to discuss the child's progress. The toddler staff offers conferences regularly, at least twice a year. All staff will be happy to meet with parents throughout the year, if the need arises. We'll arrange to meet in person or by phone at a mutually convenient time.

Newsletters

Newsletters are published monthly to keep you informed of current events and issues at the NIST Child Care Center. Individual classrooms distribute weekly or monthly newsletters with specific items of interest to their room. These newsletters are your link to the program. Please read them carefully to keep updated on Classroom and Center happenings.

Transportation/Field Trips

Field trips are planned throughout the year to enrich the learning that occurs in our Center. Parents will be notified of all upcoming field trips and asked to sign a permission slip allowing your child's participation. At times you will be assessed a nominal fee for admission and transportation. All children in attendance at school the day of the field trip are expected to participate. No alternate care is available for a child whose parents elect not to have him/her participate. All staff is needed on field trips in order to maintain proper staff-child ratios. So as not to penalize those children arriving on time and to maximize the time allotted for field trips, transportation will not wait for late arrivals and will leave promptly at the designated time. In the event that a child misses the transportation, parents may choose the option of transporting their child to the field trip location. Otherwise, parents are responsible for their child's care until the group returns from the field trip.

The Center requests that all children wear a "NIST Child Care Center" T-shirt while on field trips. T-shirts may be purchased from the Director/Assistant Director. These shirts help staff and parent volunteers easily identify children in our group.

The children will be transported in the Center bus. Each child will be required to wear a seat belt or the integrated child restraints. There may be occasions when parents are needed to accompany their child's class on an outing and possibly transport themselves or their child in their car. Your child will always travel in the Center bus if you are not able to go on the trip.

Summer Specials

A variety of weekly programs are arranged at the Center during the summer months for the children in Building 308. These programs are intended to enrich our program and may include puppet shows, animal shows, musicians, etc. A one-time nominal fee will be charged to support these specials.

Daily Activities

Information about your child's day is shared with parents in a variety of ways. Our toddlers and 2's have individual daily reports sent home. For preschoolers (3 and 4 year olds), your child's day is posted in the classroom. Please take the time to read the note. Our kindergarten class has a weekly newsletter that discusses the weekly activities and events. Please take the time to read the daily or weekly newsletter since it will enable you to more easily discuss the day's events with your child.

Fundraising/Donations

Throughout the year the NIST Child Care Association sponsors several fundraising activities/events in which parents are encouraged to participate. Half the money earned from these fundraising activities is used for purchases that benefit the children, such as playground equipment, special activities, and capital equipment. The other half is used to partially fund our Scholarship Assistance Fund. Some parents choose to donate money directly to the Center, in lieu of participating in fundraisers. All support is welcome, but does not alter or influence your child's placement in the CCC.

Tax deductible donations may be made to the CCC at any time, and are much needed as the CCA operates as a non-profit organization.

Parents as Center Volunteers

There are many wonderful ways for parents to participate in the life of the NIST CCC. Parents may occasionally be asked to donate their time and talents to assist in the maintenance of the child care facility and in other ways such as serving on a committee, participating on field trips, etc. We encourage all parents to participate in some way to help maintain the high quality of the Center and its programs but know that participation is strictly voluntary, and does not alter or influence your child's placement in the CCC. This is your Center, too. Please make the most of it!

An Important Note to Parents

Your interest and involvement in your child's school experience is critically important to all of us. We, like you, want the very best for your child. If you ever have a concern, we want to hear from you. In order for us to address your concerns in the most professional way possible, it is important that you follow this procedure:

- ✓ Talk directly to the teacher. In many cases, she can answer your questions best. If you are not satisfied, then,
- ✓ Talk to the Director. The majority of issues/concerns that could not be resolved by the teacher can be resolved by the Director. If you are not satisfied then,

✓ Contact the NIST Child Care Association Board of Directors. See the list of current Board members on the Parent Information Board.

See also Appendix B: Rules of Conduct Between Staff and Families, and Appendix C: Outside Employment of Staff by CCC Families.

This page left intentionally blank.

APPENDIX A: SCHEDULE OF FEES (as of August 2009)

Registration Processing Fee (initial, one-time)	\$ 50.00
Deposit (initial, one-time)	\$200.00
Tuition (every two weeks) Meals (included in tuition) Returned Check or Insufficient Funds (each occurrence) Late Tuition Checks (per workday late)	see Appendix D
Late Pick-up (first 5 minutes after 6:00pm EST, or any portion thereof) Late Pick-up (every minute after 6:05pm EST)	\$ 15.00 \$ 1.00
Early Closing (first 5 minutes after official closing time, or any portion thereo Early Closing (every minute after the first 5 minutes after official closing time	-
CCA membership (annual)	\$ 50.00
Field Trips (as scheduled) Transportation (as scheduled) Summer Specials (each Spring) T-shirts	varies varies varies see CCC Director
Tax Deductible Donations	see CCC Director
	ablished in Spring ablished in Spring

APPENDIX B: RULES OF CONDUCT BETWEEN STAFF AND FAMILIES

Parents can expect to be given regular, positive and constructive feedback on a routine basis, through conversations with teachers and administrative staff at drop-off and pick-up times, phone calls to/from the Center staff, individual daily notes from the infant/toddler programs, etc. Concerns and constructive feedback from Center staff will be communicated verbally or in writing, and in a professional and timely manner.

Negotiating Differences between staff and parents

All members of the CCA are responsible for the smooth functioning of the Center. Communication should remain respectful and professional at all times. CCA members are expected to bring their concerns directly and promptly to the involved party. Problems must be clearly stated with thought given to possible solutions. If the difference is between parent and a teacher, and the parent is not satisfied with the teacher's response or needs more information, the parent should speak immediately with the CCC Director.

We are of the mind that it is better to address a concern rather than suppress it. We recommend that concerns should be addressed directly between the parties involved as it allows for resolution between the parties most directly impacted. If a CCA member is uncomfortable addressing the involved party directly, s/he should approach the Director or Assistant Director. With the Director, a method of handling the concern will be agreed upon. In most occasions, the Director will recommend accompanying the CCA member to have a discussion with the involved party.

If a concern involves the Director, and the involved party is not comfortable approaching the Director, they should seek out a Board member. Board members will encourage the party to approach the Director. They will be willing to accompany the individual in a discussion or communicate the concern on the parent's behalf. If the individual does not want to take action, the Board member will judge whether the issue is significant to the CCA community and may bring it to the attention of the Director without naming the individual. The parent will be notified of this intended action.

Hand in hand with the expectation of respectful, direct and timely communication comes our stand against gossip and rumors. This type of communication is never constructive, and can tear at the professional, supportive, courteous culture we work so hard to cultivate.

Children as our focus

Creating a constructive community built on mutual respect, caring and appreciation is the CCC's top priority. This is accomplished by increasing direct communication, discouraging gossip, and addressing concerns and problems through appropriate channels. The health, safety, well being, and appropriate development of children are our priorities. In all circumstances, CCA members should be guided by how the best interests of the children can be served.

APPENDIX C: OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF BY CCC FAMILIES

We ask that you keep your relationships with teachers on a professional basis. You are discouraged from utilizing teachers for out-of-Center child care. However, if you ask staff to work as a babysitter while they are employed, please know this is an entirely separate arrangement than your child's enrollment. Our liability or workers compensation insurance does not cover staff off premises. In addition, our background research and on-the-job observations do not cover any work done outside the Center. Also, the job demands are high and the potential for conflict of interest exists.

APPENDIX D: BI-WEEKLY TUITION RATES

	Full-time NIST	Full-time Other Federal	M/W/F NIST	M/W/F Other Federal	T/Th NIST	T/Th Other Federal
Toddlers (Room D2)	\$676	\$686	\$486	\$496	\$326	\$336
Twos (Rooms C, D1, E)	\$508	\$518	\$360	\$370	\$244	\$254
Preschool –Younger (Room A)	\$478	\$488	\$330	\$340	\$226	\$236
Preschool –Older (Room B)	\$444	\$454	\$324	\$334	\$222	\$232
Pre-Kindergarten - (Room G)	\$444	\$454	\$324	\$334	\$222	\$232
Kindergarten	\$478	\$488				
Before/After School Care	\$276	\$286				
Summer Camp	\$418	\$428				

Effective September 6, 2010

APPENDIX E: SCHOLARSHIP PROJECTIONS FOR THE 2010-2011 SCHOOL YEAR

# in Family	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Award %
Family (unadjusted) Gross Income Range	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	39%
	\$18,751	\$23,184	\$27,597	\$32,013	\$36,431	\$37,262	\$38,085	\$38,910	\$39,747	34%
	\$21,447	\$26,494	\$31,541	\$36,588	\$41,634	\$42,580	\$43,527	\$44,472	\$45,419	29%
	\$24,128	\$29,807	\$35,482	\$41,162	\$46,839	\$47,904	\$48,966	\$50,031	\$51,098	24%
	\$29,489	\$36,428	\$43,370	\$50,293	\$57,248	\$58,547	\$59,849	\$61,149	\$62,452	20%
	\$34,851	\$43,051	\$51,256	\$59,455	\$67,656	\$69,193	\$70,732	\$72,268	\$73,807	16%
	\$40,213	\$49,675	\$59,140	\$68,601	\$78,065	\$79,838	\$81,612	\$83,385	\$85,163	12%
	\$45,575	\$56,301	\$67,025	\$77,749	\$88,473	\$90,481	\$92,495	\$94,505	\$96,517	8%
	\$50,937	\$62,925	\$74,910	\$86,896	\$98,882	\$101,126	\$103,378	\$105,623	\$107,869	6%
	\$56,927	\$70,325	\$83,719	\$97,115	\$110,511	\$113,018	\$115,535	\$118,050	\$120,554	0%

Note: Actual awards may be higher or lower and are determined by the number of families eligible for assistance, and the amount of funds available.

Example: If a family of 5 people is supported by a total gross income of \$57,000.00, then the projected scholarship award would be 20% of the usual tuition charges for enrolled children in that family. If the actual award turned out to be 16%, then this family would only have to pay 84% of the usual tuition.